S.S. I

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Indian Heart Journal

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ihj



Review Article

Macronutrients and the FTO gene expression in hypothalamus; a systematic review of experimental studies



Saeid Doaei^a, Naser Kalantari^b, Nastaran Keshavarz Mohammadi^c, Ghasem Azizi Tabesh^d, Maryam Gholamalizadeh^{e,*}

- ^a Student's Research Committee, National Nutrition and Food Technology Research Institute, Faculty of Nutrition Sciences and Food Technology, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
- Department of Community Nutrition, Faculty of Nutrition Sciences and Food Technology, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
- ^c Department of Public Health, Faculty of Health, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
- ^d Department of Human Genetics, Faculty of Human Genetics, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
- ^e Student's Research Committee, Cancer Research Center, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 28 May 2016 Accepted 17 January 2017 Available online 24 January 2017

Keywords:
Obesity
Gene expression
FTO
Macronutrients

ABSTRACT

The various studies have examined the relationship between FTO gene expression and macronutrients levels. In order to obtain better viewpoint from this interactions, all of existing studies were reviewed systematically. All published papers have been obtained and reviewed using standard and sensitive keywords from databases such as CINAHL, Embase, PubMed, PsycInfo, and the Cochrane, from 1990 to 2016. The results indicated that all of 6 studies that met the inclusion criteria (from a total of 428 published article) found FTO gene expression changes at short-term follow-ups. Four of six studies found an increased FTO gene expression after calorie restriction, while two of them indicated decreased FTO gene expression. The effect of protein, carbohydrate and fat were separately assessed and suggested by all of six studies. In Conclusion, The level of FTO gene expression in hypothalamus is related to macronutrients levels. Future research should evaluate the long-term impact of dietary interventions. © 2017 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Cardiological Society of India. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	. Introduction			
2.	Metho	odology	. 278	
	2.1.	Data sources	. 278	
	2.2.	Data extraction		
	2.3.	Outcome variables	. 278	
	2.4.	Intervention components	. 279	
	2.5.	Assessment of methodological rigor	. 279	
3.	Result	ts		
	3.1.	Components of effective interventions	. 279	
	3.2.	Effect of calorie restriction		
	3.3.	Effect of increased dietary fat	. 279	
	3.4.	Effect of amino acids		
	3.5.	Effect of carbohydrates	. 279	
4.	Discu	ssion	. 280	
		osure		
	Refere	ences	. 280	

E-mail address: mgholamalizadeh84@yahoo.com (M. Gholamalizadeh).

^{*} Corresponding author.

1. Introduction

Obesity is a major public health challenge worldwide in 21 century. Obesity has important role in a large number of diseases, including coronary heart disease, type 2 diabetes, cancer, hypertension, dyslipidemia and stroke. The prevalence rates of overweight and Obesity are worriedly increasing in the worldwide. More than 12% of the adult population are obese. Obese adolescents were reached from 5% to 21% from 1980 to 2012.

The role of various factors in the formation and progression of obesity has been shown. Genetics, life style and environmental factors are the most important factors that have been associated with obesity. Numerous studies have reported that unhealthy lifestyle including low physical activity and poor nutrition are the main cause of obesity. and, therefore, suggested lifestyle changes as strategies to prevent and combat obesity. On the other hand it has also been noticed that even with lifestyle changes, the success rate in reducing obesity is not always satisfactory. Here the role of genetics in obesity is highlighted as an explanation to this dilemma. The results of recent studies in the field of nutritional genomics create uncertainties in understanding the role and importance of lifestyle in occurring obesity and/or decrease imagined role of the lifestyle in obesity.

Several studies have explored the interactions between genomics and diet and its relationship with hyperlipidemia and hypertension. ^{21–25} Recent studies in the field of nutritional genomics have demonstrated that genetic background plays an important role not only in probability of occurring obesity but also in people's response to the lifestyle intervention. ^{26–34} Several genes have been studied in relation to obesity, which one of the most important genes is FTO (Fat mass and obesity-associated protein).

FTO gene expression is associated with regulation of food intake and energy balance. 35–41 Also recent studies have tried to explore the interaction of dietary components with FTO gene expression in hypothalamus. As there is no systematic review on these studies, this study aims to fill this gap and contribute to better understanding of the interaction of dietary components and FTO gene expression.

2. Methodology

2.1. Data sources

This systematic review was conducted and reported in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guidelines that have been used for other gene expression-related systematic reviews. The search covered all available research from January 1990 to January 2016 in CINAHL, Embase, PubMed, PsycINFO, and the Cochrane Library. The bibliographies of included articles were hand-searched, and promising titles were reviewed in order to locate articles not catalogued in the major databases. In cases that reviewer was unable to determine whether an article pertained to the study by title, the abstract was reviewed. The search terms used were (Body Mass Index OR Body Weight OR Obesity OR Overweight OR obese OR FTO gene OR FTO gene expression OR hypothalamus OR diet OR dietary component OR calorie OR calorie restriction OR protein OR carbohydrate OR fat OR macronutrient.

This systematic review compares randomized controlled trials studies that utilized dietary interventions including dietary macronutrients modifications as interventions to change the level of FTO gene expression. This review involves assessing dietary interventions delivered through changes in macronutrients levels to influence on FTO gene expression. Inclusion criteria consisted of: randomized trials or trials without randomization or a control group; a primary outcome including FTO gene expression; trials that tested dietary interventions (through diet modification) and subjects included rats and mice. Papers were excluded if the articles were published in a language other than English.

2.2. Data extraction

The studies focused primarily on changes in calorie, $^{36-39}$ fat, 37,40 amino acid (Leucine), 36,41 and carbohydrate (Sucrose) intake or administration. 37,39

2.3. Outcome variables

The initial search generated a total of 428 papers from all the search databases. To obtain rigorous scientific evidence, only randomized controlled trials studies were selected for this systematic review in terms of key outcomes and interventions used. One reviewer screened the study title and abstract as the first screening stage and narrowed the articles to 334 papers. Two reviewers then reviewed the abstract and narrowed the search from 334 articles to 85 articles by eliminating duplicate papers based on the same research. Articles that were nonintervention studies, such as review papers, and cross-sectional studies were also excluded. The primary outcome was change of FTO gene expression with the use of macronutrients. Studies that did not target FTO gene expression and were not macronutrients-based

Table 1 Methodological rigor of included studies.

Reference	Randomization	Blinding	Inclusion/exclusion criteria clearly described	Adequate sample sizecalculationsshown	Adequate control group*	Standard measures described	Comparison of baseline parameters of completers versusnoncompleters	80% retention rate**	MR score
Gutierrez- Aguilar et al. ⁴¹	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
Olszewski et al. ³⁷	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
Boender et al. ³⁸	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
Johansson et al. ⁴²	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	7
Fredriksson et al. ³⁹	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	7
Poritsano et al. ⁴⁰	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	7

Notes: *Control group was reflective of study group in number, age and sex; **80% of participants completed the intervention. Abbreviations: MR: methodological rigor.

were excluded. Based on the inclusion criteria, two reviewers examined the full papers and identified 6 studies that met the inclusion criteria (see Table 1).

2.4. Intervention components

Detailed examination of the following components of effective interventions was conducted: macronutrient intake or administration, method used for intake/administration changes, subjects, and duration of the intervention. The effectiveness of the intervention was determined by reviewing the results of the study and reporting the study findings.

2.5. Assessment of methodological rigor

Methodological rigor assessment was adapted to include articles from those in use by the Cochrane Effective Practice and Organization of Care Review Group and recent systematic reviews. The eight criteria were scored objectively using published data and reflect potential bias (see Table 1). Studies were rated independently by two reviewers. Each item was rated as "yes" (1), "no" (0), or "not applicable". A total methodological quality score (ranging from 0 to 8) was calculated by summing up all "yes" items. Studies were rated as having good methodological quality if they met at least 75% of the criteria (six of eight items).

3. Results

3.1. Components of effective interventions

Two protein-based interventions, two fat-based interventions and two carbohydrate-based interventions were included in this systematic review. All of 6 studies indicated the effectiveness of macronutrients on FTO gene expression.

3.2. Effect of calorie restriction

Four of six studies found that macronutrients intake decreased FTO gene expression (36, 37, 38 and 40) and two study reported that 48-h food deprivation had reduced FTO gene expression (39 and 41).

3.3. Effect of increased dietary fat

Two of the six studies that examined the impact of increased dietary fat found reduced FTO gene expression after intervention.^{38,41} For instance, a study by Gutierrez-Aguilar et al.⁴⁰ on tailored high fat diet interventions for Wistar male rats found a significant decrease in FTO gene expression at 6 weeks post intervention. Although, Boender et al. reported a non-significant reduction of FTO expression after 8-day high-fat diet.³⁷

3.4. Effect of amino acids

Two studies assessed the impact of amino acid (ie, Leucine) on gene expression outcome. ^{36,41} Olszewski et al. found that anorexigenic Leucine had reduced FTO gene expression in organotypic cultures of the hypothalamus at 48 h post intervention. ³⁶ While Johansson et al. found that Leucine intake had increased FTO gene expression at 48 h post intervention. ⁴¹

3.5. Effect of carbohydrates

Two studies assessed the impact of carbohydrate administration on gene expression outcome. Poritsano et al.³⁹ found that increased glucose administration had increased FTO gene expression at 48 h post intervention. While Boender et al.³⁷ reported that increased sucrose intake had insignificantly reduced FTO gene expression at 8 days post intervention. Also, Olszewski et al. found

Table 2Summary of Study description.

Reference	Study design	Sample characteristic	Intervention/control/ components	Intervention duration	Results
Dietary fat					
Gutierrez- Aguilar et al. ⁴⁰	Experimental	30 rats (15 animals per group)	Group 1) High fat diet Group 2) normal diet	6 weeks	FTO gene expression was reduced in the high fat group
Boender et al. ³⁷	Experimental	24 rats (12 rats per group)	Group 1) High fat and high sucrose diet Group 2) restricted feeding Group 3) Normal diet	8 days	FTO gene expression was increased in restricted feeding group
Amino acids					
Olszewski et al. ³⁶	Experimental	14 mice (7 animals per group)	Group 3) 48-h supplemented with leucine Group 4) Control	48-h	-FTO gene expression was reduced in Leucine added group
Johansson et al. ⁴¹	Experimental	16 mice (8 mice per group)	Group 1) leucine-spiked water Group 2) Water alone	48-h	FTO gene expression was increased in the intervention group
Calorie restric	tion				
Olszewski et al.36	Experimental	16 mice (8 animals per group)	Group 1) High calorie diet Group 2) 16-h fasting	16-h	FTO gene expression was increased in 48-h fasting group
Fredriksson et al. ³⁸	Experimental	24 rats (eight animals per group)	Group 1) Low calorie diet Group 2) Food-deprived Group 2) Normal diet	48-h	Expression of the FTO gene is up-regulated during starvation
Glucose					
Poritsano et al. ³⁹	Experimental	6–10 mice per group	Group 1) Low calorie diet And Glucose administration Group 2) Normal diet Group 3) Low calorie diet	48-h	FTO gene expression was reduced after low calorie diet and increased after Glucose administration in the intervention group

no changes in hypothalamic FTO expression after a 48-h palatable sucrose feeding (Table 2).³⁶

4. Discussion

The present systematic review investigates the potential impact of dietary components (such as protein, carbohydrate and fat) on FTO gene expression. Based on this review of 6 intervention studies, there is some evidence that suggest the possibility that macronutrients affect hypothalamic FTO expression. Also most of studies (4 of 6 studies) indicated that higher macronutrients levels can decrease FTO gene expression (36, 37, 38 and 40) and two studies reported decrease FTO gene (39 and 41).

There is no clear evidence about the reason of existing contradiction between short-term and long-term effects of macronutrients on FTO gene expression. But it may depends on the wide range of FTO gene roles in hypothalamus. 43–50 The recent studies reported that FTO has a role in macronutrients metabolism. 43–45 For instance, a study by Gulati et al. 45 found an important role of FTO in matching cellular amino acids levels with mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) signaling. On the other hand, many studies found that FTO gene polymorphisms had a critical role in FTO gene expression level and its effects on obesity. 46,47 Although other studies reported that FTO gene polymorphisms weren't linked with FTO gene expression. 48,49 The literature currently available is also insufficient to examine the impact of wide range of polymorphisms on FTO gene expression.

This review suggests that both the level of calorie and the level of each macronutrients have a potential to change FTO gene expression level. Because of the variation in duration of intervention (48-h to 6 weeks), it is not clear what length of intervention is most effective. Only one study included long-term follow-up data (more than 48-h intervention), ⁴⁰ and there is no enough evidence on the optimal FTO gene expression with regard to healthy weight management.

The present review emphasize on the possibility that changes in macronutrients levels affect hypothalamic FTO expression and thereby affect regulation of appetite and body weight. We need further investigation of the relationship between macronutrients and hypothalamic FTO expression in future research.

These type of studies may contribute to determining ways in which nutrition specialists and researchers can make more informed decisions about which types of macronutrients and diet are most suitable in achieving sustainable weight reduction via impact the level of FTO gene expression. Although it was not found any clear evidence of an exact effect of dietary interventions on FTO gene expression, the use of dietary modifications have the potential to assist researchers in dealing with the obesity epidemic. Future research should include mediating factors associated with the impact of dietary intervention on FTO gene expression, and should also include more long-term follow-up. In addition, assessment of FTO gene expression related health outcomes, such as obesity and Diabetes should be included in future research.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest in this work.

References

- 1. WHO, Obesity and overweight. World Health Organization. Archived from the original on December 18, 2008. Retrieved January 10, 2009.
- NIH, NHLBI Obesity Education Initiative. Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults. Available online: http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/obesity/ ob_gdlns.pdf.

- 3. Wolf AM, Colditz GA. Current estimates of the economic cost of obesity in the United States. *Obes Res.* 1998;6(2):97–106.
- Wolf AM. What is the economic case for treating obesity? Obes Res. 1998;6 (April S1):2S-7S.
- Finkelstein EA, Trogdon JG, Cohen JW, et al. Annual medical spending attributable to obesity: payer- and service-specific estimates. *Health Aff.* 2009;28(5):w822–w831.
- 6. WHO Global Health Observatory Data Repository [online database]. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2013 (http://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main, accessed 21 May 2013). National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States, 2011: With Special Features on Socioeconomic Status and Health. Hyattsville, MD; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2012.
- Mirzazadeh A, Sadeghirad B, Haghdoost AA, et al. The prevalence of obesity in Iran in recent decade; a systematic review and meta-analysis study. *Iran J Public Health*. 2009;38(3):1–11.
- 8. The Surgeon General's Call To Action To Prevent and Decrease Overweight and Obesity. Rockville (MD): Office of the Surgeon General (US); 2001. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK44206.
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence Obesity: Guidance on the prevention, identification, assessment and management of overweight and obesity in adults. London, NICE, 2006.
- Swanton, K., Healthy Weight, Healthy Lives: A toolkit for developing local strategies. London, Department of Health. 2008 Oct.
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence Obesity: Guidance on the prevention, identification, assessment and management of overweight and obesity in adults. London, NICE, 2006.
- Amorim A, Linne Y, Lourenco P. Diet or exercise, or both, for weight reduction in women after childbirth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007;3:CD005627.
- Norris S, Zhang X, Avenell A, et al. Long-term nonpharmacological weight loss interventions for adults with prediabetes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2005;2: CD005270.
- Shaw K, Gennat H, O'Rourke P, et al. Exercise for overweight or obesity. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;4:CD003817.
- Roberts K, Cavill N, Rutter H. Standard Evaluation Framework for Weight Management Interventions. Oxford: National Obesity Observatory; 2009.
- 16. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (Great Britain). Obesity: Guidance on the Prevention, Identification, Assessment and Management of Overweight and Obesity in Adults and Children. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence; 2007.
- 17. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. *Behaviour Change*. London: NICE; 2007.
- Weiss R. Cardiovascular risk clustering in obese children. In: Debasis B, ed. Global Perspectives on Childhood Obesity. San Diego: Academic Press; 2011:139– 146
- 19. Logue J, Thompson L, Romanes F, et al. Management of obesity: summary of SIGN guideline. *BMJ*. 2010;340:c154.
- Reinehr T. Lifestyle intervention in childhood obesity: changes and challenges. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2013;607–614.
- 21. Doaee S, Gholamalizadeh M. Polymorphism of AI, A IV and E apolipoprotein genes and effect of fat intake on HDL levels. *Genet 3rd Millennium*. 2011;9(June (1)):2323–2328.
- 22. Doaei S, Gholamalizadeh M. The association between dietary fat with gene polymorphisms. .
- Doaei S, Gholamalizadeh M, Akbari M, et al. Nutritional Genomics: A Window to the Future. 1st ed. Qom, Iran: Andishe Mandegar Publication; 2011 [p. 5–9.
- Doaei S, Gholamalizadeh M. The association of genetic variations with sensitivity of blood pressure to dietary salt: a narrative literature review. ARYA Atheroscler. 2014;10(May (3)):169–174.
- Safavi SM, Doaei S, Gholamalizadeh M. Unsaid of nutrition and genetics. World Nutr J. 2007;6(60)22–23 [In Persian].
- Chagnon YC, Rankinen T, Snyder EE, et al. The human obesity gene map: the 2002 update. Obes Res. 2003;11(March (3)):313-367.
- Perusse L, Bouchard C. Identification of genes contributing to excess body fat and fat distribution. 7th International Congress on Obesity. Progress in Obesity Research. 1996;vol. 7:281–289.
- Challis BG, Luan J, Keogh J, et al. Genetic variation in the corticotrophinreleasing factor receptors: identification of single-nucleotide polymorphisms and association studies with obesity in UK Caucasians. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2004:28:442–446.
- Gibson WT, Pissios P, Trombly DJ, et al. Melanin-concentrating hormone receptor mutations and human obesity: functional analysis. *Obes Res.* 2004;12:743–749.
- Montague CT, Farooqi IS, Whitehead JP, et al. Congenital leptin deficiency is associated with severe early-onset obesity in humans. *Nature*. 1997;387:903–907.
- 31. Farooqi IS, Keogh JM, Yeo GS, et al. Clinical spectrum of obesity and mutations in the melanocortin 4 receptor gene. *N Engl J Med*. 2003;348:1085–1095.
- Zhang X, Qi Q, Zhang C, et al. FTO genotype and 2-year change in body composition and fat distribution in response to weight-loss diets the POUNDS LOST trial. *Diabetes*. 2012;61(November (1)):3005–3011.
- Cecil JE, Tavendale R, Watt P, et al. An obesity-associated FTO gene variant and increased energy intake in children. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(December (24)):2558–2566.
- 34. Church C, Moir L, McMurray F, et al. Overexpression of Fto leads to increased food intake and results in obesity. *Nat Genet*. 2010;42:1086–1092.

- 35. Hardy R, Wills AK, Wong A, et al. Life course variations in the associations between FTO and MC4R gene variants and body size. Hum Mol Gen. 2010;19 (3):545–552.
- Olszewski PK, Fredriksson R, Olszewska AM, et al. Hypothalamic FTO is associated with the regulation of energy intake not feeding reward. BMC Neurosci. 2009;10(October (1)):129.
- Boender AJ, van Rozen AJ, Adan RA. Nutritional state affects the expression of the obesity-associated genes Etv5, Faim2, Fto, and Negr1. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012;20(December (12)):2420–2425.
- Fredriksson R, Hagglund M, Olszewski PK, et al. The obesity gene, FTO, is of ancient origin, up-regulated during food deprivation and expressed in neurons of feeding-related nuclei of the brain. *Endocrinology*. 2008;149(May (5)):2062– 2071
- Poritsanos NJ, Lew PS, Fischer J, et al. Impaired hypothalamic Fto expression in response to fasting and glucose in obese mice. Nutr Diabetes. 2011;1:e19.
- Gutierrez-Aguilar R, Kim DH, Woods SC, et al. Expression of new loci associated with obesity in diet-Induced obese rats: from genetics to physiology. *Obesity*. 2011;20:306–312.
- Johansson A. Leucine Intake Affects Brain Activity and Central Expression of Genes Associated with Food Intake, Energy Homeostasis and Reward, Student Thesis. Mälardalen University, School of Sustainable Development of Society and Technology; 2011. Available from http://mdh.diva-portal.org/smash/get/ diva2:447251/FULLTEXTO1.pdf.
- Chen JL, Wilkosz ME. Efficacy of technology-based interventions for obesity prevention in adolescents: a systematic review. Adolesc Health Med Ther. 2014;5:159–170.

- **43.** Grunnet LG, Nilsson E, Ling C, et al. Regulation and function of FTO mRNA expression in human skeletal muscle and subcutaneous adipose tissue. *Diabetes*. 2009;58(October (10)):2402–2408.
- 44. Cheung MK, Gulati P, O'Rahilly S, et al. FTO expression is regulated by availability of essential amino acids. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2013;37(May (5)):744–747
- **45.** Gulati P, Cheung MK, Antrobus R, et al. Role for the obesity-related FTO gene in the cellular sensing of amino acids. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2013;110(February (7)):2557–2562.
- Scuteri A, Sanna S, Chen WM, et al. Genome-wide association scan shows genetic variants in the FTO gene are associated with obesity-related traits. PLoS Genet. 2007;3(July (7)):e115.
- Sentinelli F, Incani M, Coccia F, et al. Association of FTO polymorphisms with early age of obesity in obese Italian subjects. *Exp Diabetes Res.* 2012; [February 20, 2012].
- **48.** Grunnet LG, Nilsson E, Ling C, et al. Regulation and function of FTO mRNA expression in human skeletal muscle and subcutaneous adipose tissue. *Diabetes*. 2009;58(October (10)):2402–2408.
- 49. Smemo S, Tena JJ, Kim KH, et al. Obesity-associated variants within FTO form long-range functional connections with IRX3. *Nature*. 2014;507(7492):371–
- Timpson NJ, Emmett PM, Frayling TM, et al. The fat mass- and obesityassociated locus and dietary intake in children. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008;88 (4):971–978